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2016 was an eventful year that brought new momentum and progress to IPOS.

Right out from celebrating our 15th anniversary as an intellectual property (IP) 
office, we charted a new development agenda for a vibrant innovation ecosystem 
in Singapore. With the spotlight on innovation, we updated our IP Hub Master 
Plan in April 2017 to align with the Committee on the Future Economy’s (CFE) 
recommendation for innovation to be a key strategy in powering Singapore’s 
economic progress.

Our future focus is clear: IPOS will evolve to become an innovation agency 
to help in transforming our national economy through our expertise and 
networks. More importantly, our understanding of IP should broaden 
beyond the legal to include the economic and business aspects. IP is not 
just a legal right, it is a strategic business asset. We, therefore, have to 
develop an ecosystem that encourages innovation to thrive, and rewards 
innovators and enterprises with opportunities to transform their ideas to 
assets.

Growing Our IP Ecosystem
In the past year, we have rolled out a series of exciting industry-
wide initiatives that empowers enterprises to compete effectively in 
their target markets by commercialising their ideas and IP. There 
are just three that warrant special mention.

As our vibrant start-up community and innovative SMEs start 
to expand, they will need access to smart and patient capital 
that understands innovation. In April 2017, we entered into a 
strategic alliance with Makara Capital, a homegrown private 
equity firm, who launched a one billion dollar Makara 
Innovation Fund (MIF). The fund – one of the few in the 
world to have an innovation theme – will invest S$30 to 
S$150 million in innovative growth stage enterprises over 
the next few years. MIF’s financing options will empower 
these companies to grow through buy and build 
strategies, and access growth markets in Asia and 
beyond through Singapore. We will provide specialised 
IP services to aid investment decisions and support 
company growth strategies. This will help position 
Singapore as a hub for IP commercialisation. 

FOREWORD BY 
CHAIRMAN AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Ideas Today, Assets 
Tomorrow 
Governments from around the world are 
turning to innovation to drive economic 
progress, and IP has emerged as an 
increasingly critical factor for economic 
growth. In 2015, around 2.9 million patent 
applications, 6.0 million trademark 
applications, and close to 0.9 million 
industrial design applications were filed 
worldwide. Most of this growth is being 
driven by Asia and in particular, China. 

These changes in the international IP 
landscape present opportunities for 
Singapore. We have already built ourselves 
as a trade, logistics and finance hub, and 
we are well placed to be a hub for ideas, 
innovation and IP protection. 

As an innovation agency, we will work hard 
with our partners in the public and private 
sectors to give enterprises and innovators 
an environment where they can protect, 
secure and commercialise their IP, and to 
realise our vision of transforming the ideas 
of today into the assets of tomorrow. 

Given that human capital is an important 
pillar in an innovation ecosystem, we set our 
sights on nurturing a talent pool of industry-
ready, highly skilled IP professionals. 
Working in partnership with the Singapore 
University of Social Sciences, we developed 
the new Master of IP and Innovation 
Management graduate programme in 
August 2016 that will see Singapore grow a 
progressive pipeline of IP experts in the mid- 
to long-term horizon. This newly established 
programme will equip mid-career 
professionals with the practical skills and 
know-how to help their companies translate 
innovation and IP into valuable commercial 
advantages for businesses.

Singapore's IP regime has been consistently 
ranked amongst the best in the world. But 
we want to do more. To improve its relevance 
in today’s fast-changing business climate, 
IPOS has been proactively updating our 
IP regime to support the IP efforts of our 
enterprises and innovators. In the first 
quarter of 2017, we passed major legislative 
changes to our patents and registered 
designs regimes to increase the quality of 
patents and broaden the scope of design 
protection respectively. Currently, we are 
performing a comprehensive review of our 
copyright regime, which looks at the ways 
how content is created and consumed in 
today’s technology-centric and digital age.
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Appreciation
 
Our achievements would not have been 
possible without the strong stewardship of 
our Board of Directors and parent Ministry 
in steering us confidently on this journey 
of evolution into an innovation agency. 
We also convey our sincere thanks to the 
unwavering support of our partners and 
stakeholders from the public and private 
sectors, at home and overseas, who believe 
in our innovation-driven mission. We are 
especially proud of our colleagues in the 
IPOS family – IP Academy, IP ValueLab and 
IPOS International – who are committed 
in pursuing our shared goal of building a 
vibrant innovation ecosystem for Singapore. 
We are also grateful to our Board of 
Directors for their guidance, collective 
wisdom and unstinting support in all our 
initiatives and plans.
 
Everyone in IPOS looks forward to another 
successful year where we build on the 
momentum in 2016 and the opportunities 
that this year has in store.

Dr Stanley Lai  Daren Tang 
Chairman  Chief Executive
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Ali Ijaz Ahmad
Co-Founder and CEO 
Makara Capital 

Abhijit Ghosh
Partner, International Tax 
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Han Kok Juan
Deputy Secretary 
Ministry of Law 

Sim Feng-Ji
Director, Resource Division 
Ministry of Trade and Industry 

Eric Teo
Adjunct Associate Professor, 
Division of Accounting, 
Nanyang Business School 
Nanyang Technological University 

Prof Tsui Kai Chong
Provost 
Singapore University of Social Sciences 

Audrey Yap
Managing Partner 
Yusarn Audrey
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Dr Stanley Lai
Chairman
IPOS
Partner and Head of IP Practice
Allen & Gledhill LLP

Douglas Foo
Executive Chairman 
Sakae Holdings

Dr Lim Kuo-Yi
Managing Director 
Monk’s Hill Ventures

Neo Gim Huay
Managing Director, Enterprise 
Development and Managing 
Director, Sustainability 
Temasek International

Suresh Sachi
Deputy Managing Director 
(Corporate & Legal) and 
General Counsel 
Agency for Science, 
Technology and Research 

Tan Min-Liang
CEO 
Razer Inc.

Daren Tang
Chief Executive 
IPOS
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ORGANISATION 
CHART

Principal Consultant 
Chiam Lu Lin1

Assistant Chief Executive
Tan Shau En2

Assistant Chief Executive
Woo Yew Chung

Note:
1 Ms Chiam Lu Lin is also holding concurrent appointment as Executive Director, IPA
2 Mr Tan Shau En is also holding concurrent appointment as Executive Director, IPVL and CFO, IPOS
3 Internal Audit Department reports to IPOS Audit Committee

Commercialisation
Cluster

IP Management
& Markets Department

Finance Department

Corporate Services 
Cluster

Human Capital
Department

Information Technology 
Department

Knowledge & Workspace 
Department

Legal Department

Board of Directors

Chief Executive / Registrar
Daren Tang

as of 1 May 2017
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Internal Audit
Department3

Chief Executive Office  
Departments

Hearings & Mediation 
Department

Assistant Chief Executive
Ng Kok Wan

IP Academy 
(IPA)

IPOS International 
(IPOS-I)

IP ValueLab
(IPVL)

Registries Cluster

Registries of Patents,
Designs & Plant Varieties

Registry of Trademarks

Members of the
IPOS Family

International Engagement 
Department

Media & Communications 
Department

Partnership & Programme 
Department

Strategic Planning & Policy 
Department
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SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT

Daren Tang
Chief Executive / 
Registrar

Woo Yew Chung
Assistant Chief Executive 
(Corporate)

Chig Kam Tack
Director (Knowledge & Workspace)

Juliana Chua
Director (IPOS International)

Kelvin Kee
Director (International Engagement)
Director (China Representative Office)

Joan Koh
Director (Finance)

Dr Bernard Ong
Director (Strategic Planning & Policy)
Director (Partnership & Programme)

William Lim
Director (Media & 
Communications)

Isabelle Tan
Director (Trademarks) 

Dexter Teo
Executive Director 
(IPOS International)

Alfred Yip
Director (Patents, 
Designs & Plant 
Varieties)

as of 1 Sep 2017
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Tan Shau En
Assistant Chief Executive (Commercialisation)
Chief Financial Officer (IPOS)
Executive Director (IP ValueLab)

Ng Kok Wan
Assistant Chief 
Executive (Registries)

Chiam Lu Lin
Principal Consultant (IPOS)
Executive Director, Strategy 
(IP Academy)

Darren Chan
Director (Information 
Technology)

Trina Ha
Director (Legal)
Head (IP Management - 
Government)

Kok Kitt-Wai
Executive Director, 
Programmes
(IP Academy)

Mark Lim
Director (Hearings & Mediation)

Joyce Tan
Head (Internal Audit)

Sharon Wong Thorpe
Senior Vice President, Marketing & 
Strategic Partnership (IPOS International)

Sharmaine Wu
Director (IP Management & 
Markets)



Ideas Today. Assets Tomorrow.14

CORPORATE 
PROFILE

IPOS
IPOS is an innovation agency that uses 
our networks and expertise to drive IP 
commercialisation for Singapore’s future 
growth.

Our focus is on helping enterprises grow 
through IP and innovation strategies, 
developing skills and expertise in these areas, 
and building an innovation ecosystem where 
today’s ideas become tomorrow’s assets.
 
IPOS is a statutory board under the Ministry of 
Law.
 

Vision
A global partner for an IP-driven economy

Mission
We foster innovation and creativity by building 
a vibrant and robust IP-enabled ecosystem for 
Singapore’s future growth.

Core Values
 Integrity
 Professionalism
 Teamwork
 People-focused

Corporate Slogan
Ideas Today. Assets Tomorrow.



Ideas Today. Assets Tomorrow. 15

OUR SUBSIDIARIES 
IP Academy Singapore is the education and training arm of IPOS. IP 
Academy aims to be a leading centre for excellence in IP and innovation 
education, with a mission to grow a vibrant network of skilled IP and 
innovation professionals and users through quality education.
 
IP ValueLab empowers businesses to maximise the value of their 
intangible assets, driving exponential growth and profits. As the 
enterprise engagement arm of IPOS, it delivers IP management 
solutions to help businesses gain a competitive edge in their 
innovations. To offset the costs of these engagements, it administers 
SPRING Singapore’s Collaborative Industry Projects grant to qualifying 
companies. IP ValueLab is also a partner of the Makara Innovation Fund, 
and facilitates IP business due diligence and advisory.

IPOS International is the international arm of IPOS. Appointed as an 
International Searching and Preliminary Examining Authority by the 
World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), IPOS International 
has over 100 patent examiners with a heavy concentration of Ph.Ds 
in different areas of technology and science. It is ISO 9001 accredited 
for its patent search and examination services. IPOS International’s 
services include patent search and examination, customised searches, 
and bespoke patent analytics and technology intelligence reports for 
informed decision making.



DISCOVER
BRINGING YOUR IDEAS TO LIFE



Through close collaborations with the Prime 
Minister’s Office, National Research Foundation, 
Agency for Science, Technology and Research, 
and Ministry of Finance, IPOS helped to develop 
the National IP Protocol and updated the Master 
Research Collaboration Agreement (MRCA) to 
enhance commercialisation of IPs arising from 
publicly-funded research and development (R&D).

The revised Protocol and MRCA provide agencies 
with clear guidelines and enable results of publicly-
funded R&D to be accessed and used by the  
industry in a more seamless and efficient manner. 

TRANSLATING 
INNOVATIVE IDEAS 
INTO VALUABLE 
ASSETS

STRENGTHENING 
SINGAPORE’S 
INNOVATION 
ECOSYSTEM

In the Research, Innovation and Enterprise (RIE) 
community, IPOS has played the role of an expert 
resource agency to strengthen the capabilities of 
enterprises to innovate and scale up. An active 
member in several RIE committees, IPOS has 
been supporting the use of innovation and IP as 
catalysts for Singapore’s economic growth.

Ideas Today. Assets Tomorrow. 17



PROTECT
SECURING THE VALUE OF YOUR INNOVATION
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ENHANCING IP 
PROTECTION FOR 
LOCAL CREATORS

IPOS regularly reviews and updates our IP laws 
to ensure our IP regime remains top-class and 
relevant. Through public consultations and industry 
engagements, IPOS works with our stakeholders 
and industry partners to build a robust IP regime in 
Singapore that supports innovation and enterprise 
growth. 

In the past year, the Ministry of Law and IPOS 
introduced legislative changes to update the 
patents and registered designs regimes, and also 
commenced the review of the copyright regime.

Benefits of the proposed legislative 
changes to the patents regime:

Benefits of the proposed legislative 
changes to the registered designs regime:

Objectives of the copyright review:

Ensures granted patents are of high quality 

Supports the growth of the design industry

Complements the Design 2025 Master Plan

Addresses the impact brought about by the 
new digital era

Ensures a copyright regime where rights 
are reasonable, clear and efficiently 
transacted

Gives patent owners more scope to source 
for funding before filing patents
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Businesses and entrepreneurs now enjoy substantial 
cost savings when they file for patent and trademark 
protection with IPOS through lowered application 
fees. At the same time, patent owners who are 
willing to offer their patents for licensing will enjoy 
discounts in their patent renewal fees.

This is part of IPOS’ efforts to support our innovators 
by keeping filing fees competitive and making IP 
protection more affordable for them.

25% reduction
in search and examination fees

ENCOURAGING 
INNOVATION
WITH MORE 
AFFORDABLE 
IP PROTECTION

30% discount
for national trademark application that 
utilises pre-approved descriptions of 
goods and/or services
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– Mr Desmond Tan, 
Patent Attorney of Davies Collison Cave Asia

Given the current uncertain economic 
and political outlook, the fees review is 
timely. My clients who want to build a 
competitive edge through IP in today’s 
highly globalised innovation economy 
will be encouraged to know that IPOS 
has taken steps to address their cost 
concerns and help them in the midst of 
a challenging business environment. 

“

”
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“Mark Your Trade” was a pilot programme 
to reach out to budding local creators-
entrepreneurs who had established a strong 
social media presence but had yet to protect 
their trademarks.

To unlock the value of their brands, 
IPOS offered assistance on trademark 
registration, IP clinics and marketing 
opportunities to participating creators 
with the aim to heighten the importance 
of IP and branding for businesses. These 
creators-entrepreneurs were presented with 
trademark certificates on World IP Day on 
26 April 2017 by Ms Indranee Rajah, Senior 
Minister of State for Finance and Law.

TAKING THE 
FIRST STEP TO 
UNLOCK THE 
VALUE OF BRANDS
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On 1 January 2017, IPOS, as receiving 
Office, started to accept patent 
applications filed in Chinese. Businesses 
that have filed or intend to file patent 
applications in Chinese will find this 
service convenient as they are able to 
defer patent translation cost from Chinese 
into the languages accepted by the 
Designated Offices until the national phase 
deadline. IPOS is the only International 
Searching Authority (ISA) and International 
Preliminary Examining Authority (IPEA) 
outside of China to conduct search and 
examination in Chinese.

MAKING IPOS 
A PARTNER OF 
CHOICE FOR 
PCT PATENT 
APPLICATIONS 
IN CHINESE 



COMMERCIALISE
TAKING YOUR IP TO THE WORLD THROUGH SINGAPORE
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In April 2013, the Government unveiled a 10-year master plan to guide the country towards becoming 
a Global IP Hub in Asia and drive economic growth for Singapore. In response to the Committee on 
the Future Economy’s (CFE) report, which was released in February 2017, IPOS and the Ministry of 
Law released an update to the 2013 IP Hub Master Plan to implement the CFE’s recommendations 
in strengthening Singapore’s innovation ecosystem and build the capabilities to help enterprises 
innovate and scale up. Through more IP transactions and better IP management, an estimated 
value-add of S$1.5 billion to the Singapore economy is anticipated in the next five years.

GEARING UP TOWARDS 
A FUTURE INNOVATION ECONOMY: 
UPDATE TO THE IP HUB MASTER PLAN

We have made significant progress over the last 
four years. IP is going to be an important enabler of 
Singapore’s growth moving forward. It protects business 
innovation and thereby encourages commercialisation. 
Singapore has a strong IP regime, which will enable local 
businesses to harness IP for growth. We will focus on 
helping enterprises to integrate IP into their business 
strategies early, and to commercialise their IP and scale 
up. As our businesses expand into international markets, 
they should take advantage of the international IP 
networks and connectivity that we have built up.

- Ms Indranee Rajah, 
Senior Minister of State for Finance and Law

“

”

Desired outcomes of the update to the IP Hub Master Plan:

Help 1,500 companies
understand the value of their IP

1,000

Double the number of skilled IP experts, 
especially in IP commercialisation, to

efficiency ratio rank of 65 
in WIPO Global Innovation Index in 5 years

1-on-1 IP audit and IP strategy assistance
to 150 companies by 2019

Achieve

Provide customised
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IPOS, through IP ValueLab - IPOS' 
enterprise engagement arm – will provide 
specialised services in IP analysis, audit 
and strategy, to Makara Capital’s newly 
launched one billion dollar Makara 
Innovation Fund (MIF), for the Fund to 
make investment decisions and integrate 
IP strategies into the growth strategies of 
the acquired companies. Commercially-
driven, MIF is the first private equity 
investment fund in Southeast Asia 
that sources IP-driven companies 
internationally and grooms them for 
cross-border regional expansion. 

The fund targets high-growth 
companies that can leverage our 
strong IP expertise and networks 
as well as Makara Capital's 
commercially-driven investment 
approach and private equity expertise 
to deepen their value creation, 
compete effectively and expand into 
global markets. Employing a “from 
Singapore and through Singapore” 
approach, MIF will help to anchor 
the nation as a destination for ideas 
to be translated into assets and 
revenue. 

INVESTING IN 
IP-DRIVEN 
COMPANIES 
WITH HIGH 
GROWTH 
POTENTIAL

The Makara Innovation Fund seeks to 
partner with innovative enterprises, 
providing capital and market access 
in order to enable them to compete 
at a global level. We look forward to 
working with IPOS, the innovation 
agency that drives IP management 
and monetisation in Singapore, 
to nurture the next generation of 
globally competitive companies from 
Singapore and through Singapore.

- Mr Ali Ijaz Ahmad, 
CEO of Makara Capital

“

”
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Total investment fund Investment size per 
portfolio company

No. of IP-rich and high growth potential companies 
that stand to benefit from the fund 

S$1 billion S$30 - $150 million

10 - 15
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IPOS works closely with the IP and innovation 
ecosystem to help both local and foreign businesses 
use IP strategically for growth and global expansion. 
We have established new partnerships with SGInnovate 
and the Singapore Business Federation to amplify our 
efforts on enterprise growth for businesses. 

FORGING STRATEGIC 
PARTNERSHIPS FOR 
ENTERPRISE GROWTH 
AND SUCCESS
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IPOS and the Singapore Business Federation (SBF) inked 
a new Memorandum of Understanding to drive enterprise 
growth through IP and innovation. Both organisations will 
build greater IP awareness and competencies among SBF’s 
25,000 member companies, and gain direct access to IPOS’ 
suite of IP services such as training, executive education and 
complimentary IP clinics.

IPOS is proud to be a founding partner of SGInnovate, an agency 
that enables ambitious and capable individuals and teams to 
imagine, start, build and scale globally-relevant technologies. 
SGInnovate was officially launched by Deputy Prime Minister 
Tharman Shanmugaratnam on 22 November 2016. 

In support of SGInnovate's efforts to empower deep tech start-
ups with the necessary skills, knowledge and networks on 
their innovation journeys, IPOS has stationed IP management 
consultants onsite to gain deeper insights and understanding 
of start-ups' needs, as well as to provide IP advice on the 
protection, monetisation and commercialisation of aspiring 
entrepreneurs' innovations. The consultants also connect IPOS' 
extensive networks of business partners, service providers and 
investors to the SGInnovate community.
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In June 2016, the IP Financing Scheme (IPFS) 
saw its first company, Masai Group International, 
successfully secure a loan using its intellectual 
property as a collateral. The first success case 
brings us a step forward in our quest to build a 
robust and vibrant IP-enabled ecosystem that helps 
businesses and entrepreneurs take their brands, 
content and technologies to the global market. 

Additionally, effective 1 July 2016, IP owners can look 
forward to monetising other IP asset classes such 
as registered trademarks and copyrights through 
IPFS. The addition of new IP asset classes, over and 
above patents, is aimed at helping innovators and 
businesses access financing capital through their IP 
portfolios.

SECURING 
FINANCIAL 
LOANS USING 
IP BECOMES A 
REALITY



We are honoured to be the first 
company in Singapore to have 
successfully obtained the IP 
financing to unlock the value of 
our intellectual property. With 
the financing, we will continue 
to invest and strengthen our 
global IP portfolios and brand 
marketing, as well as continue our 
research and development efforts 
in new technologies and products 
development.

- Mr Andy Chaw, 
Founder and Group Chief 
Executive Officer of Masai Group 
International

“

”
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Our innovation ecosystem needs to be 
well connected to other economies and 
innovative communities so that Singapore-
based enterprises can take their ideas 
and IP assets into Asian markets and 
beyond. To do so, we have expanded 
our global network with the signing of a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) and 
a Memorandum of Cooperation (MoC) with 
China and Vietnam respectively. 

ADVANCING 
INTERNATIONAL 
IP COOPERATION 
& CONNECTIVITY
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MoU with China’s State of Intellectual 
Property Office (SIPO) and the 
Guangdong Provincial Government

 Explore new areas of cooperation to 
support Singaporean and Chinese 
businesses in the protection, promotion 
and commercialisation of their IP along 
the Belt and Road.

 Connect leading Singaporean IP 
service providers with innovative 
Chinese companies, host high-level IP 
conferences and provide specialised 
training in IP management. 

 Position Singapore as the gateway for 
innovative Chinese companies entering 
into Southeast Asia and beyond.

MoC with National Office of IP of 
Vietnam

 Exchange experiences in the formulation 
of policies to promote innovation.

 Share best practices in IP training and 
certification standards.

 Establish platforms for the provision of 
IP management consultancy services.

 Share amendments to IP legislation and 
laws.
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Singapore’s need for specialised 
IP skills and knowledge is 
projected to increase over the 
next five years, especially in key 
innovation-based industries such 
as robotics, healthcare, ICT and 
urban sustainability solutions. To 
meet this anticipated manpower 
demand, IPOS has joined forces with 
the Singapore University of Social 
Sciences (SUSS) and Workforce 
Singapore to grow a pool of home-
grown talents with the right IP 
skillsets and expertise. 

NURTURING 
INDUSTRY-READY 
IP PROFESSIONALS 
FOR THE FUTURE 
ECONOMY

As the business environment 
becomes more competitive and 
dynamic, companies are leveraging 
innovation to stay ahead of the 
game. Effective management of IP 
helps these companies take their 
innovations to markets successfully, 
while protecting their IP rights. This 
Master of Intellectual Property and 
Innovation Management programme, 
which we are pleased to have jointly 
developed with IPOS, will give them 
the appropriate know-how.

- Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, 
President of Singapore University of 
Social Science

“

”

Master of IP and Innovation Management

The Master of IP and Innovation Management is 
a skill-based and practice-focused programme 
aimed at value-adding to local professionals’ 
careers and growing a pool of industry-ready 
IP professionals to spur Singapore’s future 
innovation-driven economy. Jointly developed 
with SUSS, the first intake commenced in July 
2017. 
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Professional Conversion Programme 
for IP Professionals

The Professional Conversion Programme 
(PCP) for IP Professionals adopts a "place 
and train" model, where individuals are hired 
and trained for IP or innovation job roles in 
companies. The scheme provides course fee 
and salary support to train individuals with 
the skills to help enterprises translate their 
innovations and creations into products and 
assets. 

With the ongoing focus on 
innovation, research and 
technology, I see a lot of 
potential in the IP industry. 
It is now possible for me to 
reskill and future proof my 
career in IP management 
with support from the PCP 
and my employer.

- Ms Wendy Sim, 
Synergy IP Pte Ltd

IPOS led the efforts in engaging two 
key communities in the promotion of 
IP commercialisation and innovation 
collaboration in Singapore. 

In December 2016, IPOS convened "Team 
Innovation", which is comprised of local 
technology transfer entities, with the aim 
of promoting collaboration among local 
researchers and to professionalise training 
and development for this community. Later 
in April 2017, IPOS refreshed the Community 
of Practice (CoP) for public agencies with 
the aim of expediting industry adoption 
of government funded R&D. Launched by 
Permanent Secretary for Law, Mr Ng How Yue 
on World IP Day 2017, the CoP served as a 
platform for public agencies to exchange best 
practices, find support and share challenges 
in the management of government IP. 

BRINGING 
COMMUNITIES 
TOGETHER 
TO PROMOTE 
INNOVATION 
COLLABORATIONS

“

”



CONNECT
TAPPING INTO NETWORKS 
OF THE IP & INNOVATION COMMUNITIES
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IP Week @ SG 2016, in its fifth instalment, was 
attended by over 1,700 participants from about 30 
countries. Themed “Powering the Innovation Cycle 
through IP", Singapore's keynote IP conference 
gathered IP and innovation luminaries, business 
leaders and key decision makers from around the 
world to network, engage and gain insights on IP 
protection and monetisation. The event took place 
from 23 – 24 August 2016.

POWERING THE 
INNOVATION CYCLE 
THROUGH IP: 
IP WEEK @ SG 2016

“ Innovation and IP are 
important and valuable 
business assets in our future 
economy. This conference is 
timely as it explores some of 
the exciting opportunities for 
businesses to capitalise on IP, 
to drive future innovation and 
business growth.

- Ms Indranee Rajah, 
Senior Minister of State for 
Finance and Law

”
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IPOS organised a month long communal 
celebration, “Eat. Live. Love IP”, with 
33 partners in celebration of World 
Intellectual Property Day 2016. Working 
with establishments from the arts 
and heritage district in Singapore, we 
showcased original creations from our 
local talents through weekly activities for 
Singaporeans from all walks of life.

CELEBRATING 
WORLD 
INTELLECTUAL 
PROPERTY DAY 
2016 WITH 
SINGAPORE

In January 2017, IPOS launched the use of 
Workplace by Facebook as an innovative way to 
communicate internally within the organisation 
and externally to other public service colleagues 
on social media. The Workplace by Facebook 
collaborative platform and its social network 
features now make the sharing of news and 
updates in a corporate environment even 
easier across the various agencies. With the 
strong support from the IPOS management 
team in leading the organisation to embrace 
innovation, IPOS has since won the Workplace 
Transformation Award for Best Leadership 
Engagement within the Agency.

CONNECTING 
WITH THE PUBLIC 
SERVICE THROUGH 
WORKPLACE BY 
FACEBOOK
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On 1 May 2017, Mr Daren Tang, IPOS’ Chief 
Executive, assumed the Chairmanship of the World 
Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) Standing 
Committee on Copyright and Related Rights 
(SCCR) at the Committee's 34th Session in Geneva. 
Mr Tang’s appointment will further support IPOS’ 
mission to build strong international networks and 
shape a robust IP regime in driving innovation and 
economic development for Singapore.

ADVANCING 
GLOBAL 
DEVELOPMENTS 
IN COPYRIGHT

IPOS was a key partner in the Intellectual 
Property Business Congress (IPBC) Southeast 
Asia conference in March 2017. This year’s 
conference focused on IP value creation and 
corporate IP best practices. Organised by 
distinguished trade publication, Intellectual 
Asset Management, IPBC is a forum where 
senior thought leaders and high-level delegates 
come together to discuss the trending topics 
on IP value creation. The conference on 
“Maximising Corporate IP Value” attracted 
an international audience comprising policy 
makers, IP practitioners and corporate leaders.

MAXIMISING 
CORPORATE 
IP VALUE

WIPO welcomes the election of 
Singapore’s Daren Tang as Chair 
of WIPO’s Standing Committee on 
Copyright and Related Rights. Mr 
Tang brings extensive experience in 
IP policy making, as a key player in 
developing Singapore to become a 
global IP hub in Asia. I am confident 
his leadership will advance the 
SCCR’s work during his tenure.

- Dr Francis Gurry, 
Director General of World 
Intellectual Property Organization

“

”
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OUR PEOPLE
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Our human capital is our greatest asset – we 
say this often and with pride. At IPOS, we are 
building a lively and dynamic organisation 
where we embrace the values of integrity, 
performance, professionalism and 
teamwork. We aspire towards making IPOS 
a great place to work in where our people 
stay engaged and their bonds strengthened 
through regular fun-filled events and social 
activities.

MAKING IPOS A 
GREAT PLACE TO 
WORK AND PLAY 
TOGETHER
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STATISTICS
2015 - 2016
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TOP 5 COUNTRIES

TOP 5 LOCAL FILERS

TOP 5 CLASSES

• StarHub Ltd
• NTUC Income Insurance Co-operative Limited
• Certis Cisco Security Pte Ltd
• Pablo Enterprise Pte Ltd
• Health Promotion Board

Scientific, nautical, surveying, 
photographic, cinematographic, etc.

Advertising; 
business management; 
business administration; 
office functions

Scientific and technological 
services and research and 
design relating thereto, etc.

Education; providing of 
training; entertainment; 
sporting and cultural activities 

Cleaning preparations, 
soaps, perfumery, 
essential oils, 
cosmetics, etc.

4,215

3,660

2,417

2,407

2,285

Singapore 

9,752
United States 
of America

5,764

3,254
Japan

2,887
China

2,614
Germany

SINGAPORE’S 
TRADEMARK 
LANDSCAPE 
IN 2016
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SINGAPORE’S
PATENT
LANDSCAPE
IN 2016

TOP 5 CLASSES

TOP 5 COUNTRIES

TOP 5 LOCAL FILERS

• Agency for Science, Technology and Research
• Nanyang Technological University
• National University of Singapore
• Mastercard Asia Pacific Pte Ltd
• Singapore University of Technology and Design

Chemistry; Metallurgy

Human Necessities

Physics

Electricity

Performing Operations; 
Transporting

34.5%

26.8%

21.2%

21%

19.6%

Singapore 

1,601

United States 
of America

3,707

1,719
Japan

593
Germany

Switzerland

497
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TOP 5 CLASSES

SINGAPORE’S 
INDUSTRIAL 
DESIGN 
LANDSCAPE 
IN 2016Articles of adornment

Recording, 
communication or 
information retrieval 
equipment

Packages and containers for the 
transport or handling of goods

Furnishing

Means of transport 
or hoisting

332

115

102

95

85

TOP 5 COUNTRIES
Singapore 

634

United States 
of America

148

219
Japan

57
Republic of Korea

48
United Kingdom

TOP 5 LOCAL FILERS

• SK Jewellery Pte Ltd
• Aspial-Lee Hwa Jewellery Singapore Pte Ltd
• Star Furniture Pte Ltd
• Shevron Pte Ltd
• SKJ Group Pte Ltd
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Applications and Registrations

Note: Local includes all applications with at least one local applicant.

Source: WIPO Statistics Database
*A single registration may contain up to 100 designs

Industrial Design international registrations resulting 
from international applications designating Singapore 
under the Geneva Act of the Hague Agreement 

Applications Registrations

2015 2016 2015 2016

Trademarks Total (Class) 44,203 41,386 50,218 53,000

Local 8,418 9,752 9,224 10,432

Foreign 35,785 31,634 40,994 42,568

National 22,130 22,909 25,018 28,130

Applications filed under Madrid Protocol 22,073 18,477 25,200 24,870

Patents 10,814 10,980 7,054 7,341

Local 1,469 1,601 446 432

Foreign 9,345 9,379 6,608 6,909

National 3,550 3,940 1,881 1,715

PCT applications entering National Phase 7,264 7,040 5,173 5,626

Industrial Designs 1,616 1,360 1,716 1,399

Local 767 634 805 677

Foreign 849 726 911 722

2015 2016

Registrations* 728 795

Designs contained in Registrations 2,641 2,977

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016
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International applications filed through Singapore 

1 TM IA by class counts. 
 2 Patent registrations in force do not include patents pending restoration. Data for 2016 was extracted in 
March 2017.

Registrations in force in Singapore

Renewals filed in Singapore

2015 2016

Trademark international applications filed through Singapore as the 
office of origin1

696  1,235 

PCT international applications filed through Singapore as the receiving 
office

663 649

Industrial Design international applications filed through Singapore 0 0

2015 2016

Trademarks 391,271 430,690

Patents2 46,909 48,603

Industrial Designs 14,500 14,471

2015 2016

Trademarks 19,989 21,841

Patents 44,060 44,054

Industrial Designs 1,258 1,304
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Top 10 filers of applications in Singapore in 2016

Trademarks

Patents

Rank Overall filers Number Local filers Number
1 LE HOLDINGS LTD. KY 155 STARHUB LTD 123

2 ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING 
LIMITED KY

145 NTUC INCOME INSURANCE 
CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED

69

3 STARHUB LTD SG 123 CERTIS CISCO SECURITY 
PTE LTD

68

4 MERCK KGAA DE 112 PABLO ENTERPRISE PTE 
LTD

64

5 GOOGLE INC. US 94 HEALTH PROMOTION 
BOARD

62

6 COUNTRY GARDEN ESTATE 
DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD CN

91 NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF 
SINGAPORE

60

7 THE STATE OIL COMPANY 
OF THE AZERBAIJAN 
REPUBLIC (SOCAR) AZ

90 SINGAPORE POWER LTD 58

8 HUAWEI TECHNOLOGIES 
CO., LTD CN

87 XIAOMI SINGAPORE PTE 
LTD

50

9 APPLE INC. US 79 MILANO CENTRAL PTE LTD 48

10 LG ELECTRONICS INC. KR 75 WANG LULU 45

Rank Overall filers Number Local filers Number
1 AGENCY FOR SCIENCE, 

TECHNOLOGY AND 
RESEARCH SG

329 AGENCY FOR SCIENCE, 
TECHNOLOGY AND 
RESEARCH

329

2 NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL 
UNIVERSITY SG

187 NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL 
UNIVERSITY

187

3 NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF 
SINGAPORE SG

158 NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF 
SINGAPORE

158

4 MASTERCARD 
INTERNATIONAL 
INCORPORATED US

148 MASTERCARD ASIA 
PACIFIC PTE LTD

44

5 HALLIBURTON ENERGY 
SERVICES, INC. US

86 SINGAPORE UNIVERSITY OF 
TECHNOLOGY AND DESIGN

26

6 INTEL CORPORATION US 86 SINGAPORE HEALTH 
SERVICES PTE LTD

25

7 PHILIP MORRIS PRODUCTS 
S.A. CH

85 HUAWEI INTERNATIONAL 
PTE LTD

24

8 LANDMARK GRAPHICS 
CORPORATION US

81 HEPTAGON MICRO OPTICS 
PTE LTD

20

9 NOVARTIS AG CH 75 ARLANXEO SINGAPORE 
PTE LTD

14

10 APPLIED MATERIALS, INC. 
US

67 CREATIVE TECHNOLOGY 
LTD

11

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016

Number is Class Counts



Ideas Today. Assets Tomorrow. 49

Industrial 
Designs

Rank Overall filers Number Local filers Number

1 SK JEWELLERY PTE LTD SG 208 SK JEWELLERY PTE LTD 208

2 ASPIAL-LEE HWA 
JEWELLERY SINGAPORE 
PTE LTD SG

83 ASPIAL-LEE HWA 
JEWELLERY SINGAPORE 
PTE LTD

83

3 NISSAN JIDOSHA 
KABUSHIKI KAISHA (ALSO 
TRADING AS NISSAN 
MOTOR CO., LTD) JP

43 STAR FURNITURE PTE LTD 25

4 STAR FURNITURE PTE LTD 
SG

25 SHEVRON PTE LTD 15

5 SCHNEIDER ELECTRIC 
(AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD AU

24 SKJ GROUP PTE LTD 14

6 K11 GROUP LIMITED VI 24 YI BAO TRADING 12

7 APPLE INC. US 23 POH HENG JEWELLERY 
(PRIVATE) LIMITED

9

8 SAMSONITE IP HOLDINGS 
S.A.R.L. LX

17 KANG LI MINERAL 
KINGDOM PTE LTD

8

9 VEECO INSTRUMENTS, INC. 
US

17 FASHION DYNAMICS 
SINGAPORE PTE LTD

8

10 LOUIS VUITTON MALLETIER 
FR

16 MEYSON JEWELLERY PTE 
LTD

7

Top 10 filers of applications in Singapore in 2016
(continued)
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Applications and Registrations in 2016 
according to country of applicant

Country / 
Economy

Trademarks Patents Designs

Applications Registrations Applications Registrations Applications Registrations

National Madrid National Madrid National PCT National PCT National National 

Albania 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Algeria 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Andorra 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Angola 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Antigua and 
Barbuda

0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Argentina 6 2 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Armenia 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Aruba 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Australia 264 1,082 405 1,430 33 148 16 69 42 35

Austria 4 202 43 213 21 49 8 28 0 0

Azerbaijan 0 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bahamas 20 4 29 4 2 1 2 6 0 0

Bahrain 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1

Bangladesh 15 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barbados 13 0 12 0 1 5 3 5 0 0

Belarus 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Belgium 6 63 4 99 14 65 11 44 2 2

Belize 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Benelux 0 406 0 442 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bermuda 32 6 78 5 4 1 9 3 0 0

Bolivia 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Botswana 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Brazil 37 1 18 3 0 6 1 8 0 0

British West 
Indies

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Brunei 
Darussalam

5 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0

Bulgaria 0 18 5 42 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cambodia 9 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Canada 213 22 298 34 30 78 23 59 3 2

Cayman Islands 582 4 927 8 8 39 18 9 0 1

Chad 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Channel Islands 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chile 9 0 13 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

China 1,572 1,315 1,776 1,186 62 281 36 194 39 42

Colombia 1 1 2 2 0 0 0 1 0 0

Costa Rica 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Côte D'Ivoire 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Croatia 0 3 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016
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Country / 
Economy

Trademarks Patents Designs

Applications Registrations Applications Registrations Applications Registrations

National Madrid National Madrid National PCT National PCT National National 

Cuba 0 0 2 0 0 3 0 4 0 0

Curacao 3 4 7 8 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cyprus 8 17 11 94 9 3 1 5 0 0

Czech Republic 0 70 3 61 1 3 0 4 0 0

Democratic 
People's 
Republic of 
Korea

0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0

Democratic 
Republic of the 
Congo

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Denmark 21 192 25 273 13 41 3 23 3 3

Dominica 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dominican 
Republic

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dutch Antilies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ecuador 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Egypt 2 1 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Estonia 0 13 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ethiopia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

European Union 0 233 0 551 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fiji 1 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finland 28 200 16 216 9 31 10 49 3 3

France 303 1,633 265 2,155 66 272 63 206 24 24

Georgia 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0

Germany 84 2,530 226 2,855 175 418 67 347 8 10

Gibraltar 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Greece 5 14 9 18 1 1 0 1 0 0

Guernsey 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guatemala 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guyana 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Holy See 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hong Kong SAR 854 20 967 9 23 1 8 6 5 5

Hungary 1 14 0 7 3 1 2 5 0 0

Iceland 3 3 5 15 0 0 0 0 0 0

India 140 97 274 80 20 46 12 38 1 1

Indonesia 136 0 184 2 1 0 2 1 0 1

Iran (Islamic 
Republic of)

0 19 0 58 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ireland 67 141 82 90 24 19 9 23 0 0

Isle of Man 44 1 41 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Applications and Registrations in 2016 
according to country of applicant (continued)
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Country / 
Economy

Trademarks Patents Designs

Applications Registrations Applications Registrations Applications Registrations

National Madrid National Madrid National PCT National PCT National National 

Israel 13 79 19 99 41 80 21 49 2 2

Italy 26 866 88 1,024 15 86 12 60 6 6

Jamaica 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Japan 1,647 1,607 2,254 2,305 481 1,238 248 1,021 219 217

Jersey 28 9 31 6 0 0 0 0 0 0

Jordan 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kazakhstan 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kenya 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kuwait 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Lao People's 
Democratic 
Republic

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Latvia 0 12 1 15 0 0 0 0 0 0

Lebanon 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liberia 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liechtenstein 31 41 54 55 2 7 0 2 0 0

Lithuania 0 4 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0

Luxembourg 36 168 58 167 7 29 2 35 18 18

Macau SAR 13 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Macedonia, 
the Former 
Yugoslav 
Republic of

0 5 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Madagascar 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Malaysia 814 1 784 1 9 19 3 36 31 36

Maldives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mali 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Malta 0 46 7 90 1 3 0 3 0 0

Marshall 
Islands

3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mauritius 26 4 21 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Mexico 28 2 15 18 0 4 0 2 2 2

Monaco 2 15 3 17 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mongolia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Montenegro 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Morocco 0 7 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0

Myanmar 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nepal 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Netherlands 80 237 133 372 36 153 18 102 0 0

Netherlands 
Antilles

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Applications and Registrations in 2016 
according to country of applicant (continued)

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016
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Country / 
Economy

Trademarks Patents Designs

Applications Registrations Applications Registrations Applications Registrations

National Madrid National Madrid National PCT National PCT National National 

New Zealand 45 185 59 182 9 30 3 8 3 3

Nigeria 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Northern 
Mariana Islands

3 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Norway 6 98 17 236 18 49 5 33 0 0

Oman 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pakistan 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Panama 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1

Papua New 
Guinea

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Paraguay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Peru 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Philippines 42 12 29 25 2 1 1 1 0 0

Poland 1 59 9 53 0 3 0 7 0 0

Portugal 3 38 3 47 3 3 0 3 0 0

Puerto Rico 1 1 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0

Qatar 19 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Republic of 
Korea

582 432 689 592 38 124 41 109 57 60

Republic of 
Moldova

0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reunion 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Romania 1 8 0 39 0 1 0 0 0 0

Russian 
Federation

0 152 32 264 0 13 0 7 0 0

Saint Kitts and 
Nevis

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Saint Lucia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Saint Vincent 
and The 
Grenadines

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Samoa 18 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

San Marino 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sao Tome and 
Principe

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Saudi Arabia 16 0 30 0 0 54 2 26 0 0

Serbia 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sierra Leone 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Seychelles 28 9 21 10 2 1 0 0 0 0

Singapore 9,685 67 10,378 54 1,222 379 208 224 634 677

Sint Maarten 
(Dutch Part)

0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Applications and Registrations in 2016 
according to country of applicant (continued)
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Country / 
Economy

Trademarks Patents Designs

Applications Registrations Applications Registrations Applications Registrations

National Madrid National Madrid National PCT National PCT National National 

Slovakia 0 8 0 9 0 0 0 1 0 0

Slovenia 3 10 3 10 0 4 0 0 0 0

South Africa 34 0 42 0 4 5 1 3 2 1

Spain 37 278 47 320 14 30 11 27 1 1

Sri Lanka 16 0 14 0 2 0 0 0 0 0

Suriname 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sweden 32 227 49 281 16 66 13 81 6 6

Switzerland 263 1,232 275 1,986 85 412 55 348 3 6

Syrian Arab 
Republic

15 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Taiwan 476 0 635 4 66 8 54 4 7 6

Thailand 187 0 244 0 1 10 0 6 4 3

The Former 
Yugoslav Rep of 
Macedonia

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trinidad and 
Tobago

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tunisia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Turkey 8 145 18 222 0 3 0 0 0 0

Turkmenistan 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Turks and 
Caicos Islands

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Uganda 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ukraine 0 7 2 10 0 0 0 0 0 0

United Arab 
Emirates

114 6 152 8 1 10 0 0 0 0

United Kingdom 590 1,250 785 2,440 83 235 51 186 48 57

United States 
Minor Outlying 
Islands

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

United States of 
America

3,145 2,619 4,635 3,730 1,255 2,452 657 2,091 148 156

Uruguay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Uzbekistan 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Vanuatu 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Venezuela 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Viet Nam 8 64 7 64 2 1 0 2 1 1

Virgin Islands, 
British

266 27 561 88 4 11 1 6 34 10

Virgin Islands, 
U.S.

2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

West Indies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Yemen 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Applications and Registrations in 2016 
according to country of applicant (continued)

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016
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Class Goods and Services Number

1 Chemicals used in industry, etc.  595 

2 Paints, varnishes, lacquers, etc.  195 

3 Cleaning preparations, soaps, perfumery, essential oils, cosmetics, etc.  2,285 

4 Industrial oils and greases, lubricants, etc.  245 

5 Pharmaceutical and veterinary preparations, etc.  1,997 

6 Common metals and their alloys, etc.  471 

7 Machines and machine tools, etc.  978 

8 Hand tools and implements (hand-operated); cutlery; side arms; razors  260 

9 Scientific, nautical, surveying, photographic, cinematographic, etc.  4,215 

10 Surgical, medical, dental and veterinary apparatus and instruments, artificial limbs, etc.  840 

11 Apparatus for lighting, heating, steam generating, cooking, etc.  914 

12 Vehicles; apparatus for locomotion by land, air or wate  770 

13 Firearms; ammunition and projectiles; explosives; fireworks  25 

14 Precious metals and their alloys, etc.  709 

15 Musical instruments  35 

16 Paper, cardboard, etc.  1,228 

17 Rubber, gutta-percha, gum, asbestos, mica, etc.  305 

18 Leather and imitations of leather, etc.  895 

19 Building materials (non-metallic); non-metallic rigid pipes for building, etc.  351 

20 Furniture, mirrors, picture frames, etc.  472 

21 Household or kitchen utensils and containers, etc.  607 

22 Ropes, string, nets, tents, awnings, tarpaulins, sails, etc.  61 

23 Yarns and threads, for textile use  17 

24 Textiles and textile goods, not included in other classes; bed and table covers, etc.  247 

25 Clothing, footwear, headgear  1,635 

26 Lace and embroidery, ribbons and braid; buttons, hooks and eyes, etc.  91 

27 Carpets, rugs, mats and matting, linoleum, etc.  101 

28 Games and playthings; gymnastic and sporting articles, etc.  660 

29 Meat, fish, poultry and game; meat extracts, etc.  1,041 

30 Coffee, tea, cocoa, sugar, rice, tapioca, sago, powder; salt, etc.  1,624 

31 Agricultural, horticultural and forestry products and grains for animals; malt, etc.  378 

32 Beers; mineral and aerated waters and other non-alcoholic drinks, etc.  713 

33 Alcoholic beverages (except beers), etc.  528 

34 Tobacco; smokers’ articles; matches  182 

35 Advertising; business management; business administration; office functions  3,660 

36 Insurance; financial affairs; monetary affairs; real estate affair  1,492 

37 Building construction; repair; installation services  874 

38 Telecommunications  886 

Trademark applications (by class) in 2016 
according to the Nice Classification
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Top 10 Trademark classes filed in 2016

Overall filers Local filers

Rank Class Number Class Number

1 09  4,215 35  1,104 

2 35  3,660 41  921 

3 41  2,417 43  783 

4 42  2,407 09  726 

5 03  2,285 42  568 

6 05  1,997 36  468 

7 43  1,667 30  442 

8 25  1,635 05  362 

9 30  1,624 16  348 

10 36  1,492 44  344 

Class Goods and Services Number

39 Transport; packaging and storage of goods; travel arrangement  697 

40 Treatment of materials  328 

41 Education; providing of training; entertainment; sporting and cultural activities  2,417 

42 Scientific and technological services and research and design relating thereto, etc.  2,407 

43 Services for providing food and drink; temporary accommodation  1,667 

44 Medical services; veterinary services; hygienic and beauty care for human beings, etc.  799 

45 Legal services; personal and social services rendered by others to meet the needs of 
individuals, etc.

 489 

Trademark applications (by class) in 2016 
according to the Nice Classification (continued)

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016



Ideas Today. Assets Tomorrow. 57

Class Goods Number

1 Foodstuffs 5

2 Articles of clothing and haberdashery 32

3 Travel goods, cases, parasols and personal belongings, not elsewhere specified 45

4 Brushware 10

5 Textile Piecegoods, Artificial and Natural Sheet Material 14

6 Furnishing 95

7 Household goods, not elsewhere specified 33

8 Tools and hardware 62

9 Packages and containers for the transport or handling of goods 102

10 Clocks and watches and other measuring instruments, checking and signalling 
instruments

35

11 Articles of adornment 332

12 Means of transport or hoisting 85

13 Equipment for production, distribution or transformation of electricity 46

14 Recording, communication or information retrieval equipment 115

15 Machines, not elsewhere specified 55

16 Photograhpic, cinematographic and optical apparatus 5

17 Musical instruments 0

18 Printing and office machinery 6

19 Stationery and Office equipment, artists and teaching materials 46

20 Sales and advertising equipment, signs 21

21 Games, toys, tents and sports goods 24

22 Arms, pyrotechnic articles, articles for hunting, fishing and pest killing 6

23 Fluid distribution equipment, sanitary heating, ventilation and air-conditioning 
equipment, solid fuel

58

24 Medical and laboratory equipment 33

25 Building units and construction elements 18

26 Lighting apparatus 37

27 Tobacco and smokers’ supplies 1

28 Pharmaceutical and cosmetic products, toilet articles and apparatus 27

29 Devices and equipment against fire hazards, for accident prevention and for rescue 4

30 Articles for the care and handling of animals 2

31 Machines and appliances for preparing food or drink, not elsewhere specified 2

99 Miscellaneous 4

Note: Possible for an Industrial Design application to have more than one class 1,360

Industrial Design applications in 2016 
according to the Locarno Classification
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Top 10 Industrial Design classes filed in 2016

Patents granted in 2016 
according to the International Patent Classification

Overall filers Local filers

Rank Class Number Class Number

1 11 332 11 320
2 14 115 6 74
3 9 102 9 31
4 6 95 2 20
5 12 85 19 19
6 8 62 23 19
7 23 58 8 16
8 15 55 3 15
9 13 46 14 9

10 19 46 15 9

Class Field of invention Percentage

A Human Necessities 26.8%
B Performing Operations; Transporting 19.6%
C Chemistry; Metallurgy 34.5%
D Textiles; Paper 0.7%
E Fixed Constructions 5.4%
F Mechanical Engineering; Lighting; Heating; Weapons 6.9%
G Physics 21.2%
H Electricity 21.0%

Total number of grants in 2016 7,341

Note: Possible for a patent application to have more than one class

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016
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IPOS Hearings in 2016

2015 2016

Trademarks (by class)

Intended Oppositions 414 469

Oppositions 319 337

Percentage of TM oppositions to TM published 0.64% 0.68%

Invalidations/Revocations/Rectifications 87 61

Patents

Revocations 2 0

Others* 1 0

Industrial Designs

Revocations 0 0

Trademarks 
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Case Management Conferences 233 0 0

Pre-hearing Reviews 32 0 0

Interlocutory Hearings 3 0 0

Taxation Hearings 10 0 0

Ex Parte Hearings 5 1 0

Inter Partes Hearings

Oppositions 8 0 -

Invalidations 4 - -

Revocations 3 1 0

Appeals to the High Court / Court of Appeal 1 0 0

Intellectual Property Disputes filed with IPOS

* ‘Others’ include cases such as Patent 
Entitlement or Opposition to Inventorship
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Application Successful Application Unsuccessful

Trademarks 
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Trademarks
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Ex Parte Hearings 0 0 0 5 1 0

Action Successful Action Unsuccessful

Trademarks 
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Trademarks
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Inter Partes Hearings

Oppositions 2 0 - 7 0 -

Invalidations 1 - - 2 - -

Revocations 1 1 0 0 0 0

IPOS Decision Upheld IPOS Decision Overturned

Trademarks 
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Trademarks
(by class) Patents

Industrial 
Designs

Ex Parte Hearings 0 0 - 0 0 -

Inter Partes Hearings

Oppositions 0 - - 0 - -

Revocations 0 0 0 0 0 0

IPOS Hearings Outcome in 2016

High Court / Court of Appeal Outcome in 2016

STATISTICS 
2015 - 2016
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

In the opinion of the Members of the Board:

(a) the accompanying financial statements of Intellectual Property Office of Singapore (the "Office") and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Intellectual Property Office of Singapore 
Act 2002 (Revised Edition), Chapter 140 (the "Act") and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to present 
fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Group and of the Office as at 31 March 2017 and the results and 
changes in equity of the Group and of the Office and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date;

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Office and of those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors whether purchased, donated or otherwise; and

(c) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Office during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2017 have been in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The Board of Intellectual Property Office of Singapore has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial 
statements for issue.

On behalf of the Members of the Board 

Dr Stanley Lai Mr Daren Tang
Chairman Chief Executive

Singapore
24 July 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 
OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Intellectual Property Office of Singapore (the “Office”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial 
position of the Office as at 31 March 2017, the statements of comprehensive income and statements of changes in equity of 
the Group and of the Office, and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes 
to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity of the Office are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Intellectual Property Office of Singapore Act 2002 (Revised Edition), Chapter 140 (the "Act")  and 
Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”) so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the Office as at 31 March 2017, and the results and changes in equity of the Group and of the 
Office and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Office in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. The other information obtained at 
the date of this auditor’s report comprises of the Statement by Members of the Board, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act and SB-FRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A statutory board is constituted based on its Act and its dissolution requires Parliament’s approval. In preparing the financial 
statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
appropriate, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is intention to 
wind up the Group or for the Group to cease operations. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 
OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 
OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Office during the year 
are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Office and of those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors whether purchased, donated or otherwise. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with SSAs. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the ACRA Code together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion 
on management’s compliance. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and 
disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act. This responsibility includes implementing accounting 
and internal controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial statements. 
We planned and performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, 
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, expenditure, 
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Office’s internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, non-
compliances may nevertheless occur and not be detected.

BDO LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
24 July 2017
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Group Office

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Operating income

Registration fees 4 49,268,629 45,516,295 41,502,017 42,572,065

Training course income 1,741,846 1,162,191 - -

Other fees and charges 1,168,893 3,540,501 954,144 3,618,882

52,179,368 50,218,987 42,456,161 46,190,947

Operating expenditure

Employee benefit expenses 5 37,867,743 35,174,647 19,929,560 25,502,657

Maintenance of office premises and computers 5,790,656 5,150,514 5,598,224 5,017,517

Rental of office premises 4,105,079 3,857,202 2,942,998 3,076,425

Amortisation expense 15 2,887,223 2,581,301 2,792,258 2,570,802

Depreciation expense 16 946,413 760,073 447,240 380,495

Operating grant 23 - - 1,407,392 368,064

Other expenses 6 10,489,699 6,456,711 6,360,295 4,727,627

62,086,813 53,980,448 39,477,967 41,643,587

Operating (deficit)/surplus (9,907,445) (3,761,461) 2,978,194 4,547,360

Non-operating income

Interest income 7 1,255,169 1,327,985 1,247,311 1,327,985

(Deficit)/surplus before grants and 
Contribution to Consolidated Fund (8,652,276) (2,433,476) 4,225,505 5,875,345

Grants

Operating grants 22 7,290,862 4,141,777 402,370 213,611

Deferred capital grants amortised
- Government 8 40,044 155,798 - 26,427

7,330,906 4,297,575 402,370 240,038

(Deficit)/surplus before Contribution to
Consolidated Fund and taxation (1,321,370) 1,864,099 4,627,875 6,115,383

Contribution to Consolidated Fund 9 (786,739) (1,039,615) (786,739) (1,039,615)

Income tax (expense)/credit 10 (55,252) 22,388 - -

Total comprehensive income for the financial year (2,163,361) 846,872 3,841,136 5,075,768

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2017

Group Office

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Equity

Share capital 11 853,153 853,153 853,153 853,153

Accumulated surplus 64,058,161 72,621,522 73,644,637 76,203,501

Total equity 64,911,314 73,474,675 74,497,790 77,056,654

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 98,885,837 104,282,955 89,943,059 91,633,165

Trade receivables 13 1,107,536 731,901 982,062 627,927

Other receivables 14 5,153,312 2,911,816 5,755,591 4,972,732

Total current assets 105,146,685 107,926,672 96,680,712 97,233,824

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 15 7,607,976 9,037,206 6,858,659 9,016,717

Plant and equipment 16 2,611,923 3,208,183 1,625,319 1,182,886

Investment in subsidiaries 17 - - 17,000,002 13,000,002

Total non-current assets 10,219,899 12,245,389 25,483,980 23,199,605

Total assets 115,366,584 120,172,061 122,164,692 120,433,429

Current liabilities

Trade payables 18 1,302,770 1,008,752 1,045,980 2,074,052

Other payables 19 12,352,061 10,677,560 12,618,671 8,666,761

Provision for reinstatement costs 20 517,100 547,300 353,500 353,500

Provision for unconsumed leave 20 1,131,459 1,008,129 647,524 647,348

Deferred revenue 21 4,201,748 3,709,334 3,893,796 3,498,861

Grant received in advance 22 3,743,886 3,768,678 1,980,988 2,230,079

Provision for contribution to Consolidated Fund 9 786,739 1,039,615 786,739 1,039,615

Income tax payable 79,803 4,025 - -

Patent deposits 24 6,497,207 7,144,317 6,497,207 7,144,317

Deferred capital grants
- Government 8 - 40,044 - -

Total current liabilities 30,612,773 28,947,754 27,824,405 25,654,533

Non-current liabilities

Deferred revenue 21 19,842,497 17,722,242 19,842,497 17,722,242

Deferred tax liabilities  - 27,390 - -

Total non-current liabilities 19,842,497 17,749,632 19,842,497 17,722,242

Total liabilities 50,455,270 46,697,386 47,666,902 43,376,775

Net assets 64,911,314 73,474,675 74,497,790 77,056,654

Funds held in trust

Patent Agent Manpower Capability 
Development Fund 29 - 5,474 - 5,474

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Note Share 
capital

Accumulated 
surplus

Total

$ $ $

Group

2017

Balance at 1 April 2016 853,153 72,621,522 73,474,675

Total comprehensive income for the financial year - (2,163,361) (2,163,361) 

Dividend paid 25 - (6,400,000) (6,400,000)

Balance at 31 March 2017 853,153 64,058,161 64,911,314 

2016

Balance at 1 April 2015 853,153 71,774,650 72,627,803

Total comprehensive income for the financial year - 846,872 846,872

Balance at 31 March 2016 853,153 72,621,522 73,474,675

Office

2017

Balance at 1 April 2016 853,153 76,203,501 77,056,654

Total comprehensive income for the 
financial year - 3,841,136 3,841,136 

Dividend paid 25 - (6,400,000) (6,400,000)

Balance at 31 March 2017 853,153 73,644,637 74,497,790

2016

Balance at 1 April 2015 853,153 71,127,733 71,980,886

Total comprehensive income for the 
financial year - 5,075,768 5,075,768

Balance at 31 March 2016 853,153 76,203,501 77,056,654

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017



Financial Statements 69

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

Group

Note 2017 2016

$ $

Operating activities

Deficit before grants and Contribution to Consolidated Fund (8,652,276) (2,433,476)

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 15 2,887,223 2,581,301

Depreciation of plant and equipment 16 946,413 760,073

Plant and equipment written off 76,752 -

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 13,113 -

Interest income 7 (1,255,169) (1,327,985)

Deficit before working capital changes (5,983,944) (420,087)

Operating cash flows before working capital changes:

Trade and other receivables (2,791,614) (586,861)

Trade and other payables 2,061,649 (6,525,919)

Deferred revenue 2,612,669 2,225,971

Patent deposits (647,110) (3,164,064)

Cash flows used in from operations (4,748,350) (8,470,960)

Interest received 1,429,652 909,013

Income tax (paid)/refund (6,864) 53,770

Payment of Contribution to Consolidated Fund (1,039,615) (1,310,849)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (4,365,177) (8,819,026)

Investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets (641,586) (1,252,192)

Purchase of plant and equipment (1,266,525) (1,994,563)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 10,100 -

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,898,011) (3,246,755)

Financing activities

Government grants received 7,266,070 6,889,177

Dividend paid 25 (6,400,000) -

Repayment of finance lease obligations - (4,962)

Net cash flows generated from financing activities 866,070 6,884,215

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (5,397,118) (5,181,566)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 104,282,955 109,464,521

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 98,885,837 104,282,955

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements.

1. General information

The Intellectual Property Office of Singapore (the "Office"), officially established under the Intellectual Property Office 
of Singapore Act 2002 (Revised Edition), Chapter 140, under the purview of the Ministry of Law. As a statutory board, 
the Office is subject to the directions of the Ministry of Law and is required to implement policies and comply with 
instructions from its supervising ministry and other government ministries and departments such as the Ministry of 
Finance. The Office's place of business is situated at 51 Bras Basah Road #04-01 Manulife Centre, Singapore 189554.

The principal activities of the Office are

(a) administering the systems of protection of intellectual property ("IP") in Singapore;
(b) formulating and reviewing of IP rights policies and legislations;
(c) maintaining and disseminating of IP information and documents;
(d) representing the Government internationally on IP matters;
(e) nurturing and training of IP agents;
(f) co-operating with other organisations and IP offices on IP programmes; and
(g) promoting the awareness and effective use of IP rights.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 17 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Office as at 31 March 
2017 and the statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity of the Office for the year ended 
31 March 2017 were authorised for issue by the  Members of the Board on 24 July 2017.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Intellectual Property Office 
of Singapore Act 2002 (Revised Edition), Chapter 140 and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-
FRS) including related Interpretations of SB-FRS (“INT SB-FRS”) and SB-FRS Guidance Notes as promulgated 
by the Accountant-General’s Department.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollar (“$”) which is the Office’s functional currency and 
the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions. Although these estimates are based on the Group’s best knowledge 
of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised SB-FRSs and INT SB-FRS that are 
relevant to its operations and effective for the current financial year. The adoption of these new/revised SB-FRS 
and INT SB-FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and had no material effect on 
the amounts reported for the current or prior years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

SB-FRS issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SB-FRSs that are relevant to the Group 
were issued but not yet effective, and have not been adopted early in these financial statements:

Effective date (annual periods 
beginning on or after)

SB-FRS 7 (Amendments) : Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017

SB-FRS 109 : Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

SB-FRS 115 : Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

SB-FRS 115 
(Amendments)

: Clarifications to FRS 115 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

SB-FRS 116 : Leases 1 January 2019

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of the new or revised standards.

Except as disclosed below, management anticipates that the adoption of the above SB-FRS in future periods 
will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period of their initial adoption.

Amendments to SB-FRS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require additional disclosures to enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes 
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. The Group will adopt these amendments in the financial year beginning on 1 April 2017 and will 
include the additional disclosures in its financial statements for that financial year.

SB-FRS 109 Financial Instruments

SB-FRS 109 supersedes SB-FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with new 
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial 
assets and hedge accounting.

Classification and measurement

Under SB-FRS 109, financial assets are classified into financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised 
cost depending on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss 
except for certain equity investments, for which the Group can elect to recognise the gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income. Debt instruments that meet the Solely Payments of Principal and Interest contractual 
cash flow characteristics test and where the Company is holding the debt instrument to both collect the 
contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets can also be measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.

SB-FRS 109 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial 
liabilities from SB-FRS 39, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss, 
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of that liability is recognised in 
other comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, SB-FRS 
109 retains the requirements in SB-FRS 39 for de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

The Group has commenced its preliminary assessment of the classification and measurement of its financial 
assets and liabilities, and does not expect any significant changes to the classification and measurement of its 
financial assets and liabilities currently measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss upon 
adoption of the standard.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

SB-FRS issued but not yet effective (Continued)

SB-FRS 109 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impairment

SB-FRS 109 introduces a new forward-looking impairment model based on expected credit losses to replace 
the incurred loss model in SB-FRS 39. This determines the recognition of impairment loss allowances as well 
as interest revenue. For financial assets at amortised cost or debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the Group will recognise (at a minimum) 12 months of expected losses in profit or loss. 
Lifetime expected losses will be recognised on these assets when there is a significant increase in credit risk 
after initial recognition under the three-stage model or from initial recognition if the simplified model is applied.

The new impairment requirements are expected to result in changes to and likely increases in impairment loss 
allowances on trade receivables and other receivables, due to earlier recognition of credit losses. The Group 
expects to adopt the simplified model for its trade receivables and will record an allowance for lifetime expected 
losses from initial recognition. For other receivables, the Group will initially provide for 12 months expected 
losses under the three-stage model. The Group is still in the process of determining how it will estimate 
expected credit losses and the sources of forward-looking data.

Transition

The Group plans to adopt SB-FRS 109 in the financial year beginning on 1 April 2018 with retrospective effect in 
accordance with the transitional provisions and will include the required disclosures in its financial statements 
for that financial year.

SB-FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

SB-FRS 115 introduces a comprehensive model that applies to revenue from contracts with customers and 
supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements under SB-FRS. The model features a five-step 
analysis to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised, and two approaches for recognising 
revenue: at a point in time or over time. The core principle is that an entity recognises revenue when control over 
promised goods or services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. SB-FRS 115 also introduces extensive 
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial statements to 
understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with 
customers. 

The Group has performed a preliminary assessment and does not identify any potential impact on the timing 
and pattern of revenue recognition under SB-FRS. The Group expects to continue to recognise it existing income 
streams per its income recognition accounting policies as described in Note 2.3.

The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year beginning on 1 April 2018 with full retrospective in 
accordance with the transitional provisions, and will include the required additional disclosures in its financial 
statements for that financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

SB-FRS issued but not yet effective (Continued)

SB-FRS 116 Leases

SB-FRS 116 supersedes SB-FRS 17 Leases and introduces a new single lessee accounting model which 
eliminates the current distinction between operating and finance leases for lessees. SB-FRS 116 requires 
lessees to capitalise all leases on the statement of financial position by recognising a ‘right-of-use’ asset and a 
corresponding lease liability for the present value of the obligation to make lease payments, except for certain 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. Subsequently, the lease assets will be depreciated and the 
lease liabilities will be measured at amortised cost.

From the perspective of a lessor, the classification and accounting for operating and finance leases remains 
substantially unchanged under SB-FRS 116. SB-FRS 116 also requires enhanced disclosures by both lessees 
and lessors.

On initial adoption of SB-FRS 116, there may be a potentially significant impact on the accounting treatment 
for leases, which the Group as lessee currently accounts for as operating leases. On adoption of SB-FRS 116, 
the Group will be required to capitalise its rented office premises on the statement of financial position by 
recognising them as ‘right-of-use’ assets and their corresponding lease liabilities for the present value of 
future lease payments. The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year beginning on 1 April 2019 
using the modified retrospective method in accordance with the transitional provisions, and will include the 
required additional disclosures in its financial statements for that financial year.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Office and its subsidiaries. 
The subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an investee if the Group has 
power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect 
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a 
change in any of these elements of control.

The subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group up to the effective 
date on which control is lost, as appropriate.

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses may be an impairment indicator of the asset 
concerned.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Office, 
using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiary are changed to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by other members of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any 
non-controlling interest. The profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate 
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are 
accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner 
as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investments 
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial 
recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, 
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the separate financial statements of the Office, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss that has been recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.3  Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

(i) Registration fees

Local and international registration fee are recognised when the registration service has been rendered. 
Patent revenue is presented net of search and examination work performed by international patent 
offices. Revenue from renewal for trademarks and designs are recognised over the effective protection 
period from 5 to 10 years on a straight-line basis.

(ii) Training course income

Training course income is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the course.

(iii) Other fees and charges

Other fees and charges comprise of regulatory charges, conference and workshop service charges and 
membership fees. These are recognised when the relevant services have been rendered.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount.

2.4 Employee benefits 

(i) Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to 
state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt 
with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are 
equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution plan.

(ii) Employee leaves entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated undiscounted liability for annual leave expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months from the reporting date as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
financial year.

2.5  Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate benefit of incentives 
is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.6 Government grants

Government grants utilised for the purchase of equipment are included in the statements of financial position 
as deferred capital grant account - government.

Deferred capital grants are recognised in the profit or loss over the periods necessary to match the depreciation 
of the assets purchased. On disposal of the equipment, the balance of the related grants is taken to the profit or 
loss to match the net book value of the equipment disposed. 

Grants and contributions received for the purchase of equipment but which are not yet utilised are taken to the 
grant received in advance account.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs which they are intended to reimburse, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable 
as reimbursements for expenses already incurred are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
become receivable.

Grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the Group would comply with the conditions 
attaching to those grants, and the grants would be received.

2.7  Taxes and Contribution to Consolidated Fund

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit reported as 
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is recognised 
at the amount expected to be paid or recovered from the tax authorities and is calculated using tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the financial year.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each financial year and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.7 Taxes and Contribution to Consolidated Fund (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Group expects to recover or settle its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or 
the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the financial year.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, in 
which case the tax is also recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Contribution to Consolidated Fund

The contribution to the consolidated fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory Corporations 
(Contribution to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319(A)). The contribution is pegged at the prevailing statutory 
income tax rate for corporate bodies. Accounting surplus would be used for the purpose of computing the 
contribution and this is accounted for on an accrual basis.

Goods and services tax (“GST”)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax except:

- Where the goods and services tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, in which case the goods and services tax is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of goods and services tax included.

The net amount of goods and services tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and deposits with the Accountant-General's 
Department ("AGD"). Deposits with AGD refers to cash that is managed by AGD under Cash Liquidity Management 
("CLM") as set out in the Accountant-General's Circular No. 4/2009 Centralised Liquidity Management for 
Statutory Boards and Ministries.

2.9 Financial instruments

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature of 
the asset and the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as 
“trade receivables” (exclude accrued revenue), “other receivables” (exclude prepayment), and “cash and cash 
equivalents” on the statements of financial position.

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or 
significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the 
same line item in profit or loss.

The impairment allowance is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period when the amount of 
impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The carrying amount of 
the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the 
amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in prior periods.

Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and 
allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial instrument. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt 
instruments other than those financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
 
Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each financial year whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On 
disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in 
profit or loss. Any amount in other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities which comprise trade and other payables, patents 
deposits and finance lease payable (excluding GST payables, Patent Cooperation Treaty advances and other 
advances).

Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount and the consideration paid is recognised in 
profit and loss.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. The 
Office classifies capital account as equity instruments.

Ordinary shares issued are classified as equity and are valued at the considerations received for the issuance 
of the shares.

2.10 Intangible assets

Computer software

Computer software comprises software purchased and developed by third parties.

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. These 
costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 
years.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is added to the carrying value only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss when incurred.

2.11 Plant and equipment

Measurement

All items of plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (“carrying amount”).

The cost of an item of plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost 
that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable. 
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost if the obligation for dismantlement, 
removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the plant and equipment.
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Useful lives

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 3 to 8 years

Computer equipment 2 to 5 years

No depreciation is charged on assets under work-in-progress as they are not yet in use as at the end of the 
financial year.

Low value assets costing less than $2,000 are fully depreciated in the month of purchase.

Assets under work-in-progress (“WIP”) represents computer software under development and is stated at 
cost less impairment and is not depreciated. Cost comprises all direct costs and relevant professional fees. 
WIP is reclassified to the appropriate category of plant and equipment and intangible asset and depreciation 
commences when the development is completed and the asset is ready for use.

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of plant and equipment are reviewed, and 
adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each financial year. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or 
loss when the changes arise.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the 
carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses 
are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Disposal

On disposal of an item of plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each financial year, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.11 Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation

Depreciation on plant and equipment (except works-in-progress) is calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows:
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

2.13 Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of 
each financial year, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
as of the end of the financial year. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items 
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary 
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the 
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For 
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.

2.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the financial year, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

The Group reviews the provisions annually. If in their opinion, the provision is inadequate or excessive, due 
adjustment is made.

Provision for reinstatement cost

The Group recognises the estimated liability for dismantlement, removal or restoration costs if the obligation 
for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using an asset. This 
provision is calculated at the date the obligation is incurred to estimate the liability of such obligation when it 
falls due.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

2.15 Dividends

Dividends proposed by the Office are not accounted for in capital and reserves as an appropriation of accumulated 
surplus, until they have been declared by the Office. When these dividends have been declared and approved by 
the Office, they are recognised as a liability.

2.16 Funds held on behalf of others

Funds held on behalf of others such as the Patent Agent Manpower Capability and Development Fund 
("PAMCDF") are set up to account for monies held in trust for external parties.

These funds are maintained separately from the Group's financial statements.

2.17 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation; or

(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingencies are not recognised on the statements of financial position, except for contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and for which the fair value can be reliably 
determined.

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management made judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that were not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions were based on historical experience and other factors that 
were considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

3.1 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the management is of the opinion that there are no 
critical judgements (other than those involving estimates) involved that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
financial year, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Trademarks

– local 11,606,365 10,999,008 11,606,365 10,999,008

– international 8,240,001 9,611,812 8,240,001 9,611,812

Patents 28,691,396 24,304,484 20,924,784 21,360,254

Designs

- local 482,856 484,836 482,856 484,836

– international 62,460 53,710 62,460 53,710

Patent agent 68,000 60,380 68,000 60,380

Others 117,551 2,065 117,551 2,065

49,268,629 45,516,295 41,502,017 42,572,065

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (Continued) 

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i) Allowance for trade and other receivables

The management establishes allowance for trade and other receivables on a case-by-case basis when 
they believe that payment of amounts owed is unlikely to occur. In establishing these allowances, the 
management considers its historical experience and changes to its customers’ financial position. If the 
financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment of their ability to make 
the required payments, additional allowances may be required. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
and the Office’s trade and other receivables (excluding accrued revenue, prepayment and compensation 
receivable) as at 31 March 2017 were $4,536,284 (2016: $2,678,525) and $5,384,176 (2016: $4,897,420) 
respectively.

(ii) Depreciation of plant and equipment

The Group depreciates the plant and equipment, using the straight-line method, over their estimated 
useful lives after taking into account of their estimated residual values. The estimated useful life reflects 
management’s estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the 
use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The residual value reflects management’s estimated amount 
that the Group would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated 
costs of disposal, as if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its 
useful life. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could affect the 
economic useful life and the residual values of these assets which could then consequentially impact 
future depreciation charges. The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Office’s plant and equipment 
as at 31 March 2017 were $2,611,923 (2016: $3,208,183) and $1,625,319 (2016: $1,182,886) respectively.

(iii) Amortisation of intangible assets

The Group amortises the intangible assets, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
life. The estimated useful life reflects management’s estimate of the period that the Group intends to 
derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s intangible assets. Changes in the expected 
level of usage and technological developments could affect the economic useful life of these assets 
which could then consequentially impact future amortisation charges. The carrying amounts of the 
Group’s and the Office’s intangible assets as at 31 March 2017 were $7,607,976 (2016: $9,037,206) and 
$6,858,659 (2016: $9,016,717) respectively.

4. Registration fees
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Wages and salaries 31,856,462 30,526,070 16,409,292 22,037,734

Employers' contribution to defined 
contribution scheme 5,197,287 4,233,331 2,778,765 3,170,192

37,053,749 34,759,401 19,188,057 25,207,926

Staff welfare 381,903 566,614 187,459 217,252

Staff training 409,069 169,377 554,044 412,398

Other staff expense/(credit) 23,022 (320,745) - (334,919)

37,867,743 35,174,647 19,929,560 25,502,657

Wages and salaries include directors' fee of $94,935 (2016: $90,000) and $90,000 (2016: $90,000) paid by the Group and 
Office during the financial year respectively.

Other staff credit pertained mainly to over provision of previous financial years’ Manpower Management Framework 
surcharge payable to the Ministry of Finance, the Government of Singapore.

6. Other expenses

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

5. Employee benefit expenses

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Net foreign exchange loss 47,157 121,213 46,829 119,241

Professional services 3,381,762 1,262,346 1,729,835 1,195,658

Event services 1,248,510 414,994 1,248,510 414,994

Storage charges 248,220 237,969 248,220 237,969

Irrecoverable Goods and Services Tax 1,554,088 1,335,389 1,499,552 1,181,123

Telecommunication expenses 42,063 295,057 33,132 289,289

Conference and workshop expenses 779,112 558,379 491,470 499,597

Sundry supplies expenses 223,893 275,075 176,481 193,224

Utilities 101,936 150,808 93,120 143,367

Bank charges 193,517 178,397 190,685 177,308

Programme expenses 1,218,301 889,837 - -

Data subscription expenses 624,401 387,471 - -

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 13,113 - 13,113 -

Plant and equipment written off 76,752 - - -

Other expenses 736,874 349,776 589,348 275,857

10,489,699 6,456,711 6,360,295 4,727,627
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8. Deferred capital grants - Government

9. Provision for Contribution to Consolidated Fund 

Group Office
2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Interest income 1,255,169 1,327,985 1,247,311 1,327,985

Group Office
2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 40,044 195,842 - 26,427

Less: amortisation of deferred capital grants (40,044) (155,798) - (26,427)

Balance at the end of the financial year - 40,044 - -

Interest income from deposits with Accountant General Department (“AGD”) amounted to $1,247,285 (2016: $1,327,960).

Group and Office

2017 2016

$ $

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,039,615 1,310,849

Amount paid during the financial year (1,039,615) (1,310,849)

Contribution during the financial year 786,739 1,039,615

Balance at the end of the financial year 786,739 1,039,615

This represents the contribution to be made to the Government Consolidated Fund in accordance with the Statutory 
Corporations (Contribution to Consolidated Fund) Act, Chapter 319A and Finance Circular Minute M5/2005. The amount 
to be contributed is based on 17% (2016: 17%) of the accounting surplus of the Office.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

7. Interest income
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Group and Office

2017 2016

$ $

Current income tax  88,000 4,025

- current financial year (5,358) (53,803)

- over provision in prior year 82,642 (49,778)

Deferred tax  

- current financial year 65,487 (8,358)

- (over)/under provision in prior year (92,877) 35,748

(27,390) 27,390

Total income tax expense/(credit) 55,252 (22,388)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

10. Income tax expense/(credit)

The subsidiary companies of the Office are subject to tax under Singapore income tax legislation. 

Current tax expense/(credit)

The income tax expense on profit differs from the amount that would arise using the Singapore standard rate of income 
tax rate of 17% due to the following:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

(Deficit)/surplus before Contribution to Consolidated Fund and taxation (1,321,370) 1,864,099

Tax (benefit)/charge calculated at statutory tax rate of 17% (2016: 17%) (224,633) 316,897

Contribution to Consolidated Fund (786,739) (1,039,615)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 15,791 29,727

Productivity and innovation credit (136,704) (65,753)

Tax effect on tax-exempt income (25,925) (25,925)

Tax rebates (10,000) (20,000)

Deferred tax asset not recognised 1,388,117 799,237

Over provision of current income tax in prior years (5,358) (53,803)

(Over)/under provision of deferred tax in prior years (92,877) 35,748

Others (66,420) 1,099

Total income tax expense/(credit) 55,252 (22,388)
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 The unutilised tax losses of approximately $12,064,000 (2016: $4,249,000) is available for set-off against future taxable 
profits subject to the agreement by the tax authority and the provisions of the Singapore Income Tax Act. Deferred tax 
assets have not been recognised because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
subsidiaries of the Group can utilise the benefits.

11. Share capital

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Excess of net book value over tax written down value of plant and 
equipment 65,899 22,469

Provisions 70,548 54,417

Unutilised tax losses 2,050,907 722,351

2,187,354 799,237

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

No. of shares $ $

Beginning and at end of the financial year 853,153 853,153 853,153 853,153

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Deposits with Accountant General 
Department ("AGD") 92,308,860 90,241,630 88,002,372 90,241,630

Cash and bank balances 5,850,539 13,557,575 1,214,249 907,785

Fixed deposits with financial institutions 726,438 483,750 726,438 483,750

98,885,837 104,282,955 89,943,059 91,633,165

 In November 2008, the Ministry of Finance implemented the Capital Management Framework which aims to sensitise 
Statutory Boards to the opportunity cost of capital utilised by the Statutory Boards to perform their functions. 

 
 The holder of these shares is entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Office. All issued shares are 

fully paid. The shares carry neither voting rights nor par value.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

 The interest rate of deposits with AGD, defined as the ratio of the interest earned to the average cash balance is 2.34% 
(2016: 1.71%) per annum.

 The fixed deposits with financial institutions bear interest 0% (2016: 0%) per annum and for a tenure of approximately 
14 days (2016: 1 to 11 days).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

10. Income tax expense/(credit) (Continued) 

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

 Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of the following temporary difference:
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Singapore dollar 98,159,340 103,798,983 89,216,562 91,149,244

Euro 726,438 483,750 726,438 483,750

Others 59 222 59 171

98,885,837 104,282,955 89,943,059 91,633,165

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables – third parties 43,940 42,190 - -

Amount due from related parties 81,534 61,784 - -

Accrued revenue 982,062 627,927 982,062 627,927

1,107,536 731,901 982,062 627,927

 The average credit period on rendering of services is 30 days (2016: 30 days).

 Amount due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

 Information on the credit risk profile for trade receivables based on profile of type of customers and ageing analysis 
provided to key management. The ageing analysis of the Group’s and the Office’s trade receivables at the reporting date 
is as follows:

13. Trade receivables  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

12. Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 

 Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Not past due 1,063,736 711,050 982,062 627,927

Past due 0 to 30 days 26,108 13,049 - -

More than 30 days 17,692 7,802 - -

1,107,536 731,901 982,062 627,927

 Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade 
receivables not past due or past due up to 60 days. These receivables are mainly arising by customers that have a good 
record with the Group.
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Deposits 547,539 549,140 440,318 386,091

Interest receivables 823,414 997,579 823,414 997,579

Amount due from subsidiaries - - 2,292,927 3,434,261

Amount due from related parties 3,035,219 1,027,832 1,827,517 79,489

Other receivables – third parties 4,638 - - -

Compensation receivable 289,972 - 289,972 -

Prepayment 452,530 337,265 81,443 75,312

5,153,312 2,911,816 5,755,591 4,972,732

 Amount due from subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

 Other receivables are denominated in Singapore dollar.

14. Other receivables  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

13. Trade receivables (Continued) 

 Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Singapore dollar 125,474 103,974 - -

Swiss franc 982,062 627,927 982,062 627,927

1,107,536 731,901 982,062 627,927
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Computer software

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Cost

Balance at 1 April 13,035,067 11,851,256 12,901,042 11,752,817

Additions 641,586 1,252,192 634,200 1,342,747

Transfer from plant and equipment 816,407 - - -

Reclassification - - - (126,141)

Written off (1,227) (68,381) - (68,381)

Balance at 31 March 14,491,833 13,035,067 13,535,242 12,901,042

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 April 3,997,861 1,484,941 3,884,325 1,388,564

Amortisation for the financial year 2,887,223 2,581,301 2,792,258 2,570,802

Reclassification - - - (6,660)

Written off (1,227) (68,381) - (68,381)

Balance at 31 March 6,883,857 3,997,861 6,676,583 3,884,325

Net carrying amount

Balance at 31 March 7,607,976 9,037,206 6,858,659 9,016,717

Average remaining useful life 4 years 4 years  4 years 4 years

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

15. Intangible assets
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Office 
equipment, 

furniture and 
fittings

Computer 
equipment 

Assets under 
work-in-
progress Total

$ $ $ $

Group

2017

Cost

Beginning of financial year 5,026,457 3,760,778 849,723 9,636,958

Additions 252,903 255,731 757,891 1,266,525

Transfer to intangible assets - - (816,407) (816,407)

Reclassification 389,209 - (389,209) -

Disposals (56,512) (48,994) - (105,506)

Written off (190,099) (1,937,196) (76,752) (2,204,047)

5,421,958 2,030,319 325,246 7,777,523

Accumulated depreciation

Beginning of financial year 3,494,217 2,934,558 - 6,428,775

Depreciation for the financial year 595,159 351,254 - 946,413

Disposals (33,299) (48,994) - (82,293)

Written off (190,099) (1,937,196) - (2,127,295)

3,865,978 1,299,622 - 5,165,600

Net book value 1,555,980 730,697 325,246 2,611,923

Group

2016

Cost

Beginning of financial year 4,539,878 3,007,233 108,882 7,655,993

Reclassification 108,882 - (108,882) -

Additions 389,055 755,785 849,723 1,994,563

Disposals (1,454) - - (1,454) 

Written off (9,904) (2,240) - (12,144) 

5,026,457 3,760,778 849,723 9,636,958

Accumulated depreciation

Beginning of financial year 2,973,159 2,709,141 - 5,682,300

Depreciation for the financial year 532,416 227,657 - 760,073

Disposals (1,454) - - (1,454) 

Written off (9,904) (2,240) - (12,144) 

3,494,217 2,934,558 - 6,428,775

Net book value 1,532,240 826,220 849,723 3,208,183

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

16. Plant and equipment
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Office 
equipment, 

furniture and 
fittings

Computer 
equipment 

Assets under 
work-in-
progress Total

$ $ $ $

Office

2017

Cost

Beginning of financial year 3,416,091 3,124,312 - 6,540,403

Additions 181,643 16,788 714,455 912,886

Reclassification 389,209 - (389,209) -

Disposals (54,556) - - (54,556)

Written off (190,099) (1,937,196) - (2,127,295)

3,742,288 1,203,904 325,246 5,271,438

Accumulated depreciation

Beginning of financial year 2,675,093 2,682,424 - 5,357,517

Depreciation for the financial year 281,713 165,527 - 447,240

Disposals (31,343) - - (31,343)

Written off (190,099) (1,937,196) - (2,127,295)

2,735,364 910,755 325,246 3,646,119

Net book value 1,006,924 293,149 325,246 1,625,319

Office

2016

Cost

Beginning of financial year 3,914,568 2,867,425 - 6,781,993

Additions 71,038 347,645 119,481 538,164

Transfer to a subsidiary (559,611) (88,518) (119,481) (767,610)

Written off (9,904) (2,240) - (12,144)

3,416,091 3,124,312 - 6,540,403

Accumulated depreciation

Beginning of financial year 2,618,073 2,579,439 - 5,197,512

Depreciation for the financial year 233,924 146,571 - 380,495

Transfer to a subsidiary (167,000) (41,346) - (208,346)

Written off (9,904) (2,240) - (12,144) 

2,675,093 2,682,424 - 5,357,517

Net book value 740,998 441,888 - 1,182,886

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

16. Plant and equipment (Continued)
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 During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Office increased the paid-up capital of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
IPOS International Pte. Ltd. from S$13,000,002 to $17,000,002 via the subscription of an additional 4,000,000 ordinary 
shares for a total cash consideration of $4,000,000. 

 During the financial year ended 31 March 2016, the Office increased the paid-up capital of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
IPOS International Pte. Ltd. by $12,999,998.

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

(a) A public company limited by guarantee. Under Clause 12 of IP Academy’s Memorandum of Association, each of the 
member of the Company undertakes to contribute a sum not exceeding $1 to the asset of the Company in the event 
of it being wound up. The number of members at the date of the reporting period is 5 (2016: 5).  

(b) A private limited company incorporated on 28 February 2014.  

(c) A private limited company incorporated on 25 July 2014. 

(d) Audited by BDO LLP, Singapore.

Office

2017 2016

$ $

Unquoted equity shares at cost

Balance at beginning of financial year 13,000,002 4

Additions 4,000,000 12,999,998

Balance at end of financial year 17,000,002 13,000,002

Name of companies
(Country of incorporation and 
principal place of business)

Principal activities
Effective equity
interest held by

the Group

2017 2016

% %

IP Academy (a),(d)

(Singapore)
To promote education and research in the field of intellectual 

property (“IP”)
100 100

IPOS International Pte. Ltd. (b),(d)

(Singapore)  
To market and export the Office’s products and services to 

foreign entities and businesses, and to engage in activities 
and collaborative arrangement with strategic partners to 
support Singapore and/or the Office

100 100

IP Valuelab Pte. Ltd. (c),(d)

(Singapore)
To develop IP management, IP valuation standards and 

services and catalyse IP Financing scheme
100 100

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

17. Investment in subsidiaries
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 The average credit period on purchases is 30 to 60 days (2016: 30 to 60 days). No interest is charged on the outstanding 
trade payables.

 Amounts due to subsidiaries and related parties were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

 Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

 Amounts due to subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

19. Other payables

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Trade payables – third parties 1,083,583 821,528 1,045,980 759,023

GST payables 219,187 - - -

Amount due to subsidiaries - - - 1,127,805

Amount due to related parties - 187,224 - 187,224

1,302,770 1,008,752 1,045,980 2,074,052

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Euro 592,930 247,948 592,930 247,948

Singapore dollar 709,840 760,804 453,050 1,826,104

1,302,770 1,008,752 1,045,980 2,074,052

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Accrued expenses 9,944,386 8,547,294 6,958,048 6,636,552

Patent Cooperation Treaty advances 265,666 310,370 265,666 310,370

Other payables – third parties 1,718,819 1,588,019 752,362 1,461,290

Advances 1,260 1,260 1,260 1,260

Amount due to subsidiaries - - 4,219,405 26,672

Amount due to related parties 421,930 230,617 421,930 230,617

12,352,061 10,677,560 12,618,671 8,666,761

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

18. Trade payables 
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

United States dollar - 11,304 - 11,304

Singapore dollar 12,352,061 10,666,256 12,618,671 8,655,457

12,352,061 10,677,560 12,618,671 8,666,761

Group Office

Provision for 
reinstatement 

costs 

Provision for 
unconsumed leave

Provision for 
reinstatement 

costs

Provision for 
unconsumed 

leave

$ $ $ $

2017

Balance at beginning of the year 547,300 1,008,129 353,500 647,348

Provisions made 42,800 1,131,459 - 647,524

Provisions reversed (73,000) (1,008,129) - (647,348)

Balance at end of the year 517,100 1,131,459 353,500 647,524

2016

Balance at beginning of the year 426,500 858,293 353,500 844,791

Provisions made 193,800 994,627 - 647,348

Provisions reversed (73,000) (844,791) - (844,791)

Balance at end of the year 547,300 1,008,129 353,500 647,348

20. Provision for reinstatement costs and provision for unconsumed leave 

 The provision for reinstatement costs are the estimated costs of dismantlement, removal or restoration of office 
premises arising from the acquisition or use of assets, which are capitalised and included in the cost of plant and 
equipment. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

19. Other payables (Continued)

 Other payables are denominated in the following currencies:   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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21. Deferred revenue

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Presented in the statements of financial position as:

Current portion 4,201,748 3,709,334 3,893,796 3,498,861

Non-current portion 19,842,497 17,722,242 19,842,497 17,722,242

24,044,245 21,431,576 23,736,293 21,221,103

Group

Renewal fees

Operating 
government 

grant
Course

fees Total

$ $ $ $

2017

Balance at beginning of the year 21,221,103 104,784 105,689 21,431,576

Additions during the financial year 6,271,038 560,136 1,030,684 7,861,858

Revenue recognised/grant amortised 
during the financial year (3,755,848) (552,892) (940,449) (5,249,189)

Balance at end of the year 23,736,293 112,028 195,924 24,044,245

2016

Balance at beginning of the year 18,966,291 117,453 121,861 19,205,605

Additions during the financial year 5,664,856 523,920 644,897 6,833,673

Revenue recognised/grant amortised 
during the financial year (3,410,044) (536,589) (661,069) (4,607,702)

Balance at end of the year 21,221,103 104,784 105,689 21,431,576

Office 

Renewal fees

2017 2016

$ $

Balance at beginning of the year 21,221,103 18,966,291

Additions during the financial year 6,271,038 5,664,856

Revenue recognised during the financial year (3,755,848) (3,410,044)

Balance at end of the year 23,736,293 21,221,103
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Ministries and Statutory Boards 

- Operating grants received from government 7,266,070 6,889,177 153,279 2,961,011

- Contributions to Consolidated Fund 786,739 1,039,615 786,739 1,039,615

- Professional Infocomm Technology (ICT) 
services charges paid to 1,623,815 1,358,506 1,623,815 1,358,506

- Alliance for Corporate Excellence System 
subscription fee and its related costs paid to 461,685 583,117 461,685 583,117

- Key management personnel’s performance 
and national bonuses received from 239,767 221,984 239,767 221,984

- Salaries of seconded staff paid to 615,696 292,919 - 292,919

Other related parties
- Professional services fees paid to - 113,250 - 113,250

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

22. Grant received in advance

 Other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

23. Operating grant 

 Operating grant is a fund given from the Office to IP Valuelab Pte. Ltd.. The funding will be used to promote the IP 
ecosystem and to support its operations.

24. Patent deposits

 Patent deposits are received for patent search and examination requests by applicants. Such requests will be conducted 
by Intellectual Property (IP) offices and will be paid to the respective IP offices upon completion of work.

25. Dividend

 During the financial year, the Board approved a dividend of $7.502 per ordinary share totaling $6,400,000 on 29 July 
2016 to the Ministry of Finance. The source of this dividend was the surplus after income tax and Contribution to 
Consolidated Fund, for the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

26. Significant related party transactions 

 During the financial year, in addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group 
and the Office entered into the following transactions with related parties at rates and terms agreed between the 
parties:  

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 3,768,678 1,021,278 2,230,079 (517,321)

Received/receivable during the financial year 7,266,070 6,889,177 153,279 2,961,011

Transfer to statement of comprehensive income (7,290,862) (4,141,777) (402,370) (213,611)

Balance at the end of the financial year 3,743,886 3,768,678 1,980,988 2,230,079
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Office

2017 2016

$ $

Subsidiaries

Corporate charges received from 311,706 163,925

Purchases of goods and/or services from

- Training course 275,874 335,514

- Patent search and examination 8,665,880 2,944,230

Consultancy services paid to - 186,180

Operating grant expense paid to 1,374,054 368,064

Training fees paid to 54,315 224,392

Rental and utilities paid to 511,460 502,795

Payment on behalf of

- Salaries 3,499,988 7,430,953

- Professional services 1,179,728 163,656

- Plant and equipment - 1,810,402

- Telecommunication 138,317 291,085

- Computer services 67,472 163,396

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

26. Significant related party transactions (Continued)

 The outstanding balances as at 31 March with related parties which include subsidiaries are disclosed in Notes 13, 14, 
18 and 19 to the financial statements.

 Compensation of key management personnel

 The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group and of the Office during the financial year are as follows:

Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Short-term employee benefits 2,097,833 2,294,539 757,191 1,364,920

Post-employment benefits 154,187 106,431 57,982 58,914

2,252,020 2,400,970 815,173 1,423,834

 Key management refers to employees designated as Group Directors and above who have the authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Office.
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Within one year 4,121,031 4,121,693 2,486,899 3,392,726

In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,054,277 6,073,567 1,243,449 5,089,088

6,175,308 10,195,260 3,730,348 8,481,814

 Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Office and the Group for office premises. Leases are 
negotiated for an average of three years (2016: three years) and rentals are fixed for the duration of the leases.

29. Funds held on behalf of others 

28. Operating lease commitments

 As lessees

 At the end of the financial year, commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office 
premises is as follows:

Group and Office

2017 2016

$ $

Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for 

- Intangible assets 1,638,090 771,192

Group and Office

2017 2016

$ $

Patent Agent Manpower Capability Development Fund - 5,474

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

27. Capital commitments

 As at the end of the financial year, commitment in respect of capital expenditure is as follows:

 These funds refer to the Patent Agent Manpower Capability Development Fund which is a funding arrangement between 
the Office and Ministry of Law, and are maintained separately from the Group's financial statements. This project 
seeks to develop Singapore's manpower capability in patent agent services by developing an advanced patent drafting 
course and implementing a co-funding scheme to support experienced foreign patent agents for two-year stints to 
provide mentorship and training for patent agent trainees in Singapore. The aim of these efforts is to eventually build 
up a pool of specialist patent agents which could serve not just the Singapore market but also regional markets.
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Group Office

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 98,885,837 104,282,955 89,943,059 91,633,165

Trade receivables 1,107,536 731,901 982,062 627,927

Other receivables 5,153,312 2,911,816 5,755,591 4,972,732

105,146,685 107,926,672 96,680,712 97,233,824

Less:

Accrued revenue (982,062) (627,927) (982,062) (627,927)

Prepayment (452,530) (337,265) (81,443) (75,312)

Compensation receivable (289,972) - (289,972) -

(1,724,564) (965,192) (1,353,477) (703,239)

Loans and receivables 103,422,121 106,961,480 95,327,235 96,530,585

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 1,302,770 1,008,752 1,045,980 2,074,052

Other payables 12,352,061 10,677,560 12,618,671 8,666,761

Patent deposits 6,497,207 7,144,317 6,497,207 7,144,317

20,152,038 18,830,629 20,161,858 17,885,130

Less:

Patent Cooperation Treaty advances (265,666) (310,370) (265,666) (310,370)

Advances (1,260) (1,260) (1,260) (1,260)

GST payables (219,187) - - -

(486,113) (311,630) (266,926) (311,630)

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost 19,665,925 18,518,999 19,894,932 17,573,500

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

30. Financial Instruments, financial risks and capital risks management  

 Management categories of financial instruments

 The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

 Risk management is integral to the business of the Group. The Group has a system of control in place to create 
an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management 
continually monitors the Group's risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and 
control is achieved.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

30.  Financial Instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (Continued) 

 Credit risk

 Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparties will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a loss. The 
carrying amount of trade and other receivables represent the Group’s and the Office’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has trade and other receivables due from government bodies which 
accounts for approximately 48% (2016: 30%) of the trade receivables balance. However, no significant credit risk is 
expected to arise. The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their 
obligations as at the end of financial year in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount 
of those assets as stated in the statements of financial position.

 Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated. The Office entered into a 
cash pooling arrangement with a government body under a Centralised Liquidity Management scheme (Note 12). The 
Office is of the view that the credit risk arising is minimal as the counterparty is a government body. The summary of 
significant accounting policies of cash and cash equivalents are described in Note 2.8.

 The deposits with Accountant-General's Department ("AGD") under Centralised Liquidity Management are placed with 
financial institutions with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

 Liquidity risk

 The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed adequate by management 
to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group's funds are placed 
in bank deposits and a government body which have high liquidity.

 The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are due within 1 year. 

 Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the 
Office's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

 The Group actively manages the market risk by placing deposits with AGD under Centralised Liquidity Management.

 Interest rate risk

 The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes mainly from investments in fixed 
deposits. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The interest rate for deposits with AGD and financial institutions are based on 
deposit rates determined by the AGD and financial institutions with which the cash are deposited and are expected to 
move in tandem with market interest rate movements.

 No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group does not expect any material effect on the Group's profit or loss arising 
from the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end 
of the reporting period.



Financial Statements 101

United States dollar Euro Swiss Francs

$ $ $

Group and Office

2017

Cash and cash equivalents - 726,438 -

Trade receivables - - 982,062

Trade payables - (592,930) -

- 133,508 982,062

Group and Office

2016

Cash and cash equivalents - 483,750 -

Trade receivables - - 627,927

Trade payables - (247,948) -

Other payables (11,304) - -

(11,304) 235,802 627,927

 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

 A 5% strengthening of Singapore dollars against the following currencies at the reporting date would increase 
(decrease) the Group's and Office's surplus before grants and contribution to Consolidated Fund by the amounts 
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

 A 5% weakening of Singapore dollar against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite effect on the 
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables in particular interest rates, remain 
constant.

 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Office’s current financial assets and current financial liabilities 
approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Group and Office

2017 2016

$ $

United States dollar - 565

Euro (6,675) (11,790)

Swiss francs (49,103) (31,396)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

30.  Financial Instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (Continued) 
 
 Foreign exchange risk 

 The foreign exchange risk arises mainly from collections for international trademark and design applications through 
the World Intellectual Property Office and payments for search and examination by international search authorities

 The following table represents the Group's major currency exposure as at the end of the reporting period, expressed 
in Singapore dollars equivalent.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE OF SINGAPORE AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

30.  Financial Instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (Continued) 

 Capital risk management policies and objectives

 The capital structure of the Group consists of share capital and accumulated surplus. The Group's policy is to maintain 
a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder, creditors and market confidence and to sustain future development 
of the business. The Group's approach to capital management remains unchanged from 2016.

 The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended 31 March 2017 and 
2016.

31. Contingencies

 During the financial year, the Group had commenced an intellectual property financing scheme (“IPFS”) with various 
financial institutions to help IP-rich companies’ monetise their IP for business growth and expansion. Companies 
participating in this scheme can tap on the IPFS to access loan facilities by using their granted patents, trademarks 
and copyright related rights as collateral to obtain banking facilities from the participating financial institutions.

 The risk of extending the loans under the scheme will be shared between the banks and the Office (funded by the 
government). No provision has been recognised in the financial statements as the Group’s management is of the 
opinion that the probability of default by the participating companies is remote.

32. Events subsequent to the reporting period

 On 31 May 2017, the Office increased the paid-up share capital of its wholly-owned subsidiary, IPOS International 
Pte. Ltd. by $3,000,000 from $17,000,000 to $20,000,000 via the subscription of 3,000,000 ordinary shares for total 
consideration of $3,000,000.
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